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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
Alexandria Division

IN RE MAXIMUS, INC. SECURITIES

LITIGATION, Civil Action No. 1:17ev-0884 (AJT/IDD)

~— —

MEMORANDUM OPINION

In this action under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
Lead Plaintiff Steamfitters Local 449 Pension Plan ctdimtbetween February 5, 2015 and
Felruary 3, 2016 (the “Class PeriodDefendants Maximus, In€:Maximus”) and its officers
Richard Montoni, Richard Nadeau, and Bruce Caswell (collectively, the “Individua
Defendants”) issued false or misleading statements concevarignus’sperformancen a
major contract with the British governmeBecause thédmended Complainfails to adequatg
allegeDefendantsscienteras to the relied upon statements and omisgessvell asto some,
materiality)or losscausation, as required under #révate Securities Litigation Reform Act
(“PSLRA"), Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint With Prejudice [Doc. No. 49]
(the “Motion”) will be GRANTED, and the Amended Complaim)SMISSED.

|. BACKGROUND

Defendant Maximus, Inc. is a publicly-traded company organized under thefaw
Virginia and headquartered in Reston, Virginia. Am. Compl. fMé&imus’s primary business
is the administration of government-sponsored benefit programs, such as the Adf@deabl
Act, Medicare, and welfarm-work programsld. On October 29, 2014, the United Kingdom
Department for Work and Pensions (“DWP”) awarded Maximus a-ff@aecontract to
administer health assessments for the DWP’stH&asessment Advisory Servidghe “HAAS

Contract”).The DWP uses the HAAS program to determine whether British citizens aredentitle
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to Employment and SuppoMlowance (“ESA”), a government assistance program for those
who cannot work due to lorntgrm disabilities. To conduct these assessments, a healthcare
professional (“HCP”) evaluates an individual's capabilities and physicafeamtal needs
against certaigriteria set by DWP. The HCP can conduct this assesdmasatl on the paper file
or a moretime consuming and difficult fae®-face assessmerdl. at § 3.

DWP initially contracted with Atos Healthcare, Ing.grovidethe HAAS assessments.
Id. at § 4.However, Atos had failed to meet the requisite volume and quality targets antdyby ea
2014 Atos had a backlog of approximately 724,000 assessments in addition to 600,000 appeals
of its prior assessmentsl. at 11 54, 139. In March 2014, Atos decidtedould forego £500
million in revenue and pay a substantial penalty to terminate its contractathdy than
continue to provide services until the end of its contract in August 214, 9 54 DWP started
the bidding process to find a replacement for Atos, setting aegatiable target of 1 million
assessments to be performed in the first ydaat { 55. Multiple bidders raised concerns that
the 1 million assessment target was not feasible, leading at least one “ecquErl@dder to
withdraw. Havever, “[n]Jone of this information was publicly known until January 8, 2016,” and
in any event, Maximus was one of only two companies to place bids, despite the lsgihasse
targetsld.

Maximus ultimately won the HAAS contract on October 29, 2014, with responsibility for
performingESA assessments transferring from Atos on March 1, 2014t § 56 To perform
the contract, Maximus created a separate entity called the Center for Health andyDisabi
Assessments (“CHDA”)d. at 58 Maximus’stotal payment under the contract would vary

from $919 million to $1 billiorover three yearslepending on how close it would get to its



contractual targetsf onemillion assessments in the first year and 1.2 million assessments in the
following years|d. at 159.

The HAAS Contract was one tife largest contrasMaximushadeverobtained and
represented-9.0% of its total revenue in 2016 and 25.9-30.6% of its international revenue in
2015. When Maximus announced that it won the contract, it indicated éxgieicted the HAAS
contract “to contribute revenue of approximately $140 million to $160 million duringvighse
months of operation in fiscal year 2015,” and that it “expected [the HAAS Contrdu#] t
accretive in fiscal year 2015d. at  60. However, shortly thereafter, durivigximus’s
November 2014 earnings call, the company noted that “the [HAAS Contract] igqicifisa@nt
challenges out of the gate thatl take some time to improveand that “there is a meaningful
backlog that we're seeking to reducBéfs.’ Ex. 4 (“Nov. 2014 Earnings Call”) 15, 2®uring
the question and answer portion of that call, Caswell stated in greater catdi]tie biggest
[challenge] is really the conversion of the existing staff over from Atoand then the hiring of
additional staff, so that we can hit the peak requirement . . . to meet the volume tadgets a
objectives for the first year of the progrand’ at 28.

Maximus’s performanceon the HAAS Contract waseasured by theumber of
assessments performed, and therefore Maximus’s succesepeasiento a large extent on its
ability to recruit, train, and retain HCPs to conduct the assessri@et$lAAS Contract was a
“cost-plus” contract, such that Maximus would be reimbursed for expenses up to a ceiling and
also receive an Award Fee for exceeding the Contract’s assessment drgets.71. The

assessment targets were subdivided into two categories: lpegear-assessments and faee

! While the Amended Complaint does not referespecificallythis portion of the earnings call, it references the
November 2014 earnings call generally, as well as several others. Becaussgdt®al in the Amended
Complaintprimarily concern Maximus'statementsluring these earnings calteese earnings calls, in their
entirety, are “integral to the complaint” and may be considered by the. @ailips v. Pitt County Mem. Hosp.
572, F.3d 176, 180 (4th Cir. 2009).



face assessments. Under the Award §&heme set out in the Contract, Award fees would be
paid onlyif Maximus met its facgo-face assessment volume target for the month. Any paper
based assessment Award Fees would be forfeited if the Company did not aldoenfesesto-
face target for tht month.d. Since many of the HCPs expectedaork on the HAAS Contract
for Maximuswerethosealready working dr Atos, the Contract required the two companies to
“negotiate in good faith to agree to a list of Transferring Employeeswitla (2) weeks of the
date of execution of this Agreement . . ..” Am. Compl. at § 72 (quoting HAAS Contract § 6.2).

The Amended Complaint alleges that several internal documents produced by Maximus
during the Class Period informed the Individual Defendants of theaoyisinadequate
performance on these vital metrit€HDA staff . . . regularly generated Operation Reports,
which provided metrics on recruitment, training, productivity, and quality osassnts.” Am.
Comp. 1 193. These Operations Reports were “frequently” sent to Maximus’s headdoarte
Reston, Virginia, although the Amended Complaint doespetifically allege that the
Individual Defendants read thesaw themor where made aware of their conteids Plaintiff
also allegsthat an internal “Risk Register’” was maintained and available to the Individual
Defendants. This Risk Register consisted of an Excel spreadsheet thabfwaked and
maintained by CHDA'’s Project Management Office . . . , which would send thds&&usters
to . . . other Maximus employees who were expected to update them with their redegarit a
Id. at { 154. However, this “Risk Register did not juatk possible risks, but also MAXIMUS’
efforts to mitigate them.” Defs.” Mem. in Supp. 18.

TheAmended Complaint alleges that, despite these internal warhiaganus and its

leadership mislead the investing puldancerning th@erformance of the HAAS Contract.



Specifically, the Amended Complaint relies on eleven alleged misrepageantduringhe
Class Period made during earnings calls and in SEC filings.

Statement vas made bivlaximus President Caswetl response to a reporter’s question
during Maximus’s February 5, 2015 earnings call, approximately one month befor@bsaxi
officially took over the Contract from Atos. In describing “how [the HAAS Contract]'s going,”
Caswell stated that Maximus was “continu[ing] to work on ramping up for th[e]amyitand
that “we feel very much that it's going as expectéekfs.” Mem. in Supp., Ex. 5 (“Feb. 5, 2015
Call”) 21 (emphasis added}laintiff alleges ircontrastthat shortly after Maximus took over the
HAAS contract, in a March 201liBternal teleconference between Caswell GRDA
employees in the UK Caswell stressed that Maximysérformane in these categories needed
to be improved” andiscussed “the difficulties that Maximus was experiencing with the HAAS
Contract, including its poor performance in the following categories: (1) ld&RBitment; (2)
HCP training; (3) HCP productivity, including assessment volumes; and (4sass# quality.”
Id. at § 192

Statementg, 3, and 4vere maddy Maximus CEOMontoni duringMaximus’s May 7,
2015 earnings call. While discussing the HAAS Contract, Montoni said that the comasany
“working hard to achieve the program’s goals related to improved service tdizi#s,
including increasing the overall number of healthcare professionals who sugpproggram.”
Defs.” Mem. in Supp., Ex. 6 ("May 7, 2015 Call”) Regarding Maximus'’s recruitment and
training of the HCPs, Montoni said

[2] Nearly all of the employedsansferred over from the previous
provider, and [3] early indications are that we are meeting our
recruitmenttargets for health care professionalhis is key in
helping us bring about positive change, and although it's early

days, [4] we're also on track to meet our requirements for
assessment voluméess a rem[]inder, our longelerm goals for the



program include reducing the long lead times, improving the
quality d the assessment and making the assessment process less
intimidating.

Statements 5 and 6 are basedviaximuss Form 10-Q quarterly report for the second
guarter of 2015, filed the next day, May 8, 2015, the first such report after Maximus began
administering the HAAS Cordct (the “May 205 10-Q”). Defs.” Mem. in Supp. Ex. 22. When
discussing the company’s “risk factors,” the report did not identify new risksystead
incorporated by reference “the factors discussed under ‘Risk Factorsamirfius’s] Form 1K
for fiscal year ended September 30, 2014 . Id..at 20. Among the seven pages of risks
identified in that 10-K (none of which werspecifically associated witthé¢ HAAS Contraqgt
Plaintiff identifies the following as materially misleadifi§tatement 57)

If we fail to accurately estimate the factors upon which we base

our contract pricing, we may generate less profit than expected or
incur losses on those contracts.

If our estimates prove to be inaccurate, we may not achieve the
level of profit we expectedr we mayincur a net loss on a
contract.

We may be unable to attract and retain sufficient qualified
personnel to sustain our business.

Am. Compl. § 322 (emphasis removed). Statement 6 is badddamus’s failure to include in
the May 20151 whatPlantiff contends were required disclosures under Item 303 of
Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. § 229.303.

Statements 7, 8, and 9 and 10 are based on an August 6, 2015 earnings call aqd the 10-
filed the next day, August 7, 201\/hile the company generally repedt strong revenue growth
overallfor the third quarter of 2015 sitHealth Segmergwhich included the HAAS Contract)

reported an operating margin of 13.7 percent, compared to 14.2 perttensame quartéhe



prior year. Am. Compl. 1 330On the callMaximus Chief Financial Officer Richaidadeau
said the fall in operating margin was “expected” and “due to the anticipated vdaainge in
our U.S. appeals business, a larger share of loveegin cost reimbursable contracts and new
contracts [such asARAS] in startup phase.” Defs.” Mem. in Supp. Ex. 7 (“Aug. 6, 2015
Earnings Call”) 3. Nadeau elaboratbatadditional revenue from the Health Services Segment
generated by its U.S. ventures “will be offset bytstig challenges that we are experiencing
with the [HAAS] contract in the UK.Id. (Maximus “operate[s] a portfolio of contracts that are
in various stages of maturity. As a result, at any given time, our more matuntealcts offset
our newer programs.”)
As to the HAAS Contract specificalliladeau reminded investors that “at the time of
takeover, [HAAS] was a very troubled program,” but stated that “we remain conhfidg we
can bring about positive change to the program over tildeMore specificallyas to the HAAS
Contract Nadeau noted:
Since our last earnings call, the recruiting and retaining of
healthcare professionals has proved to be tougher than we
anticipated. As a result, we are experiencing volume and, to a
lesser extent, quality variances from our plan. This means lower
reverue and profit contributionsom the contract at this tim&he

project is still expected to be profitable for both fiscal 2@l
fiscal 2016.

Id. (emphasis addedpuring his portion of the call, Montofikewise confirmed that the HAAS
“contract is faing some startip challenges,” and that “[a]ll along, we’ve recognized it would
take some time to bring meaningful improvements to the program,” but that “[w]e biblégve
our efforts to drive recruitment and improve retention [of HCPs] are gainingtrastd are the
right course of action.ld. at 5. During the question and answer portion of the call, Montoni

further explained that the HCP recruitment problem was due to the fact thatiHtbB1JK “are



[already] gainfully employed, so recruiting thesntougher than some other types of
professionals.1d. at 9. Montoni explained that
[o]ur original thought was that all of fiscal 2015 would be a ramp
period. We took this over in the spring. In all of fiscal 2015 and
throughout a good portion of 2016, our original plan [was that] this
would be in ramp mode. So, our plan was that this would stabilize
in fiscal 2016 and th&t still our plan.So, we’re a bit behind where

we wanted to heBut we have actions in place such that we think
we can stay on cours@d get this stabilized in fiscal 2015.

Id. (emphasis added). The August 7, 201510ling with the SEC contained the same

statement ofisk factors as the May015 10-Q and is alleged to contain the same omissions.
Statement 1is basedn statementsnade during a November 12, 2015 conference call to

discuss Maximus fourth quarter and full year 2015 earnings. In the fourth quarter, Maxsmus’

overalloperating margin for the quarter was 10.3%, compared to 13.5% in the same quarter the

previous yearAm. Compl. I 372. Operating income for the quarter was $30.5 million, compared

to $31.2 million the previous year and operating income for the year totaled $154.3 million,

compared to $115.6 million for fiscal year 201dL.In apress release before the cdllaximus

reported that “[o]perating margins for the fourth quarter and full fiscal 815 were tempered

by new programs in start-up, most notably the U.K. Health Assessment AdvisaigeSe

contract, which is not performing to the Company’s prevexectations.1d. Maximus also

revised its earnings projections for fiscal year 2016 downv@r@n the call, Nadeau explained

these revisions as being solely due to the HAAS Contract, stating thatrftpeipato contract

volume targets has been slower than originally planned.” [Doc. No. 50-8] (“Nov. 2015 Earnings

Call”) 3. More specifically, Nadeau told investors that the HAAS Contract “detivere

approximately $105 million in revenue, and an operating loss of $4 million,” compared to an

initial projeded range of $140 to $165 million in revenlee.at6. Nadeau attributed this

shotfall to two factors “First, our staffing levels are running lower than our plan . . . . Second,

8



we are not achieving certain performance metrics, most notably volume tAgatsesult, we
are not earning the performanicased incentive feesld. Montoni echoed this analysis: “Our
ability to hit the volume targets is tied directly to three areas: the number of health ca
professionals that we recruit; the number that complete training and grazhdhtbe
productivity of these new recruits. . . . What has changed is the amount of time it is tigkitog [
recruit, graduate and raryp the new staff, but we feel confident that, over time, we can achieve
our goals: Id. a 12.

Montoni announced several steps the company was taking to address these concerns.
“The first area is recruitment. . . . We have expanded our network of recruitmentgpartde
enhanced our employee referral program. We implemented an advertisingiahdsdia
campaign, launched a recruitment portal website and have been exhibiting at a number of
recruitment fairs across the country. Through these efforts we have seabl@ gptick in the
number of new recruitsid. at 12. With respect to training, Montoni announced several
initiatives to provide greater training to recruits, including individualizaditrg support to new
recruits who struggle with the initial competency examination. “This is alrgatiiing results
in keeping more candidates in the process. . . . With this extra support, we expect that more
candidates will successfully graduate to full accreditatitth.Finally, on productivity, Montoni
acknowledged that once trained, “it may take between six and eight months for fdCPs]
achieve full productivity levels,” but that they had seen increased productyibpbmiz[ing]
the work schedules of our staff and offer[ing] voluntary overtime incentives . . . éagecthe
number of assessments we can complete eachldagt’13. Based on these initiatives, Montoni
reported that “[o]ver the last eight months, we've already made signipcagtess and realized

several early accomplishments [which] demonstrate that, over time, viziegrabout the



necessary changes to put this program on the path to sud¢debohtoni summarizethat“we
are making meaningful improvements [on the HAAS Contract] and it's on an upwardoimgjec
and that “this is not a matter of loss mitigation but rather o[f] bringing thewgidd a matce
operation level . . . .Id. at 15.

During the question and answer portion of the call, an investor asked whether tige HAA
Contract’s recruiting problems were “being driven by a shortage ofigdatealth care
professionals in the market . . Id’ at 23. Caswell responded by first reiterating that “recruiting
has improved quite a bit over the course of the last several months . . we'andow reaching
a level of recruiting that, from a rate perspective, is an appropriate Telklat 24 (emphasis
added). However, Caswell noted, “[t]he real issue that we’ve been facing isildyrita
graduate those trainees that we bring into the system on a timely basikl. Latér in the call,
an investor asked “how many health care professia@taiou have on... the assessment
contract right now, and what does the current workload requideat 36. Caswell responded
that

we can't actually speak to the detailed metrics in terms of the
number of health care professionals that we have on board, but |
would remind you that we feel like we've made very significant
progress in expanding our supply chain of qualified health
professionals. . . .\f]e feel that we're at the right rate for

recruiting and we feel that we just need to keep it going for the
foreseeable future.

Id. at 37 (emphasis added).

On January 8, 2016, the U.K. government’s National Audit Office ("“NAO”) selda
public audit report entitled “Contractenit Health and Disability Assessmen#sm. Compl.
1 55;see[Doc. No. 503] (“NAO Report”). The NAO Report contained more detailed
information about Maximus’s performance on H®AS Contract and the process by which the

Contract was awarded. Specifically, the Report showed that Maximus onlisroeerall

10



asseswent volume targets the first two months of @entract and “concluded that Maximus
still faced a backlog of at least 280,000 claims as of August 2015.” Am. Compl. § 110. The
Report also criticized DWP’s contracting processesgrving that despite knowing that Atos
had a staff retention rate of 70%, DWP did not contest during the bidding pkd&eissuss use
of “a capacity model that assumed 95% of staff would still be in post after one’niovRh.
Report 19. The Report also observed tlsabfaAugust D15, only “around half of those recruited
by [Maximus] completed their trainirigld. The Reportcharacterized DWP’s target of one
million assessments in the first year of the HAAS Contmatambitious” sinceDWP “did not
baseits target on the modeling of available resources, and did not consider revisingéte tar
following bidders’ requests, although it did make changes after contraat.avdaiat 9.Overall,
the Report concluded that Maximus was “not on track to complete the expected numb&r of ES
assessments for 2015[,] largely due to problems of reaching the full staff coenple. . .”Id. at
1.

On the Februaryg, 2016, Maximusnade what Plaintiff alleges were its “final corrective
disclosures On that day, iteportedthat its Health Services Segment operating margin fell
during the first 2016 quarter from 15.5% to 9.2%, agdinattributed the result to “programs in
the starup phase . . . including the Health Assessment Advisory Service.” Am. Compl. { 113. In
the eanings call the same day, Montoni stated that “we are still running below our volume
targets [on the HAAS Contract] . . . . We continue to expect to have our productivity at the
appropriate levels by late summed’ at § 114 As for the National Audit Report, Mononi
asserted that “[tlhe NAO report echoed what we said in our November cakkzdasto certain
performance metrics, including volumes and qudliy. at § 115. Montoni also disclosed that

“[d]uring the autumn timeframe, we were hiring approximately 100 new headtpcafessionals

11



each month[,]” and that “graduation rates [for those HCPs] are north of 80%.” Am. Compl. 1
117-18.

Following the February 2016 earnings call, the price of Maximus common stock dropped
$5.53 per share, or 10.5%, closing at $46.92 per share on February 5. Maximus’s stock price
during the Class Period peaked at $70 per share on August 5, 2015, before the beginning of the
alleged “partial corrective disclosurds’August andNovember, 2019d. at  20.

Count lof the Amended Complaint alleges a violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange
Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 7@)), and SEC Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. Coualtdges
liability against the Individual Defendants as control persons under Section 20(a) of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7&s referenced abovell af theseclaims are based dhe
following eleven allegedly misleading statements or omissions by the Individual Retfend
during the Class Period (February 5, 015 to February 3, 28@érding the performance of the
HAAS Contract

e Statement Imade by Caswelluring the February 5, 20Earnings call): “We feel
very much that it's going as expected.”

e Statement 2nfade ly Montoni during the May 7, 201&arnings call): “Nearly all of
the employees transferred over from the previous provider.”

e Statement 3njade byMontoni during the May 7, 201&arnings call): “Early
indications are that we are meeting our recruitment targets for healthcare
professionals.”

e Statement 4nfade byMontoni during the May 7, 201&arnings call): “We are also
on track to meet our requirements for assessment volumes.”

e Statement 5nfade in the May 8, 2015 1Q-iling):
o “If we fail to accuratelyestimate the factors upon which we base our contract
pricing, we may generate less profit than expected or incur losses on those
contracts.”

o “If our estimates prove to be inaccurate, we may not achieve the level of profit
we expected or we may incur a fegs on a contract.”

12



o0 “We may be unable to attract and retain sufficient qualified personnel to
sustain our business.”

e Statement 6, based on omissions containddaximus’sresponse to ltem 30
Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. § 229.303 of the May 8, 2018 Xdng.

e Statement 7nfade by Nadeaduring the August 6, 201&arnings call): “The project
is still expected to be profitable for [fiscal year] '15.”

e Statement 8mladeby Montoni, August 6, 2018arnings cajt “We’re a bit behind
where we wantto be.”

e Statement 9nfade in the August 7, 2015 1Dfiling):

o “If we fail to accurately estimate the factors upon which we base our contract
pricing, we may generate less profit than expected t or incur losses on those
contracts.”

o “If our estimates proveo be inaccurate, we may not achieve the level of profit
we expected or we may incur a net loss on a contract.”

o “We may be unable to attract and retain sufficient qualified personnel to
sustain our business.”

e Statement 10based on omissioms its response to Item 303 of Regulation S-K, 17
C.F.R. § 229.303, containedMaximus’sAugust 7, 2015 10-Q.

e Statement 11njade by Caswelluring the November 12, 20¥arnings call): “Wee

now reaching a level of recruiting that, from a rate perspective, is anpaippedevel
.. . Wére at the right rate for recruiting.”

[I. LEGAL STANDARD
A Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss tests the legal sufficiency of the comptaimnt.
Randall v. United State80 F.3d 518, 522 (4th Cir. 1994K¢epublican Party of N.C. v. Martin
980 F.2d 943, 952 (4th Cir. 1994).claim should be dismissed “if, after accepting all well
pleaded allegations in the plaintiff's complaint as true . . . it appears certaihdhpaintiff
cannot prove any set of facts in supportisfdiaim entitling him to relief.’Edwards v. City of
Goldsborg 178 F.3d 231, 244 (4th Cir. 1999ge also Trulock v. FreeR75 F.3d 391, 405 (4th

Cir. 2001).In considering a motion to dismiss, “the material allegations of the complaint are

13



taken as aahitted,” Jenkins v. McKeither895 U.S. 411, 421 (1969) (citations omitted), and the
court may consider exhibits attached to the complgaetteville Investors v. Commercial
Builders, Inc, 936 F. 2d 1462, 1465 (4th Cir. 1991).

Moreover, “the complaint is to be liberally construed in favor of plaintiff.] see also
Bd. of Trustees v. Sullivant Ave. Propd.C, 508 F. Supp. 2d 473, 475 (E.D. Va. 200i).
addition, a motion to dismiss must be assessed in light of Rule 8's liberal pleadidgrds,
which require only “a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pkeadétied
to relief.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8\evertheless, while Rule 8 does not require “detailed factual
allegations,” a plaintiff must still provide “more than labeld aonclusions, and a formulaic
recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twomb)y650
U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (the complaint “must be enough to raise a right to relief above the
speculative level” to one that is “pisibleon its face”);see also Giarratano v. Johnsd21
F.3d 298, 302 (4th Cir. 2008). As the Supreme Court statadharoft v. Igbgl556 U.S. 662,
678 (2008), “[a] claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factoiatent that allows
the Court to draw a reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the cdededt’al
As discussed below, however, the PSLRA has imposed certain heighteadithg requirements
with respect to certain elements of plaintiff's causes of adticiydingspecifically scienterSee
§ 78u4(b)(2).

[11. ANALYSIS

Section 10(bpf the Securities Exchange Act of 193#®vides that it is unlawful “[t]o
use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security . . . any mamsijoulati
deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of” the rules propounded by the SEC. 15 U.S.C

8 78j(b). Rule 10I& similarly providesn relevant parthat “[i]t shall be unlawful for any person

14



... [fjo make any untrue statement of a material fattt omit to state a material fact necessary
in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under whicletheyade,
not misleading.” 17 C.F.R. 8 240.10b-5(b). For a plaintiff to succeed on a § 10(b) claim, it must
establish “(1) a ntarial misrepresentation or omission by the defendant; (2) scienter; (3) a
connection between the misrepresentation or omissiotharlirchaser sale of a security; (4)
reliance upon the misrepresentation or omission; (5) economic loss; and (6) loisrtdusa
Stoneridge, Inv. Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlgrig2 U.S. 148, 157 (2008) (citations
omitted).Section 20(a) provides for joint and several liability for individuals who “control”
others who are liable under the Exchange Act. Individuals in positions of “contediahle to
the same extent as those that they control. 15 U.S.C. § 78t.

a. None of therelied upon statements are actionable.

Plaintiff contendghat theDefendants made each of the relied upon statements or
omissions with theaquisite scienter. With respect to the element of scienter, the PSLRA
requires that a complaint “state with particularity facts giving rise to a stréergmce that the
defendant acted with the required state of mind.” S#@)(2). The'required statef mind”
under Section 10(b3 “a mental state embracing intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud.”
Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Lt#51 U.S. 308, 319 (20075evere recklessness”
can also suffice tmeet the scienter requireme@ttmann v. Hanger Ortho. Group., In853
F.3d 338, 344 (4th Cir. 2003). However, this “slightly lesser species of intentional misgbnduct
id. (internal citations and quotation marks omittedyst be “so highly unreasonable and such an
extreme departure from the standard of ordinary care as to present a dangkzaofimgishe
plaintiff to the extent that the danger was either known to the defendant or so obvious that the

defendant must have been aware bfRtillips v. LCI htern., Inc, 190 F.3d 609, 621 (4th Cir.

15



1999). Moreover, under the PSLR&llegations of scienter must satisfy the heightened standards
applicable to fraud allegations rather thantthditionalRule 8 “shot and plain statement of the
claim” standardSee Yates v. Mun. Mortg. & Equity, LLE14 F.3d 874, 885 (“The PSLRA
imposes a heighted pleading standard of fraud allegations in private secarntj@ainots.”) see
alsoFed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) (“In alleging fraud or mistake, a party must state witkeydarity the
circumstances constituting fraud or mistakeXgcordingly, thecomplaint must plead specific
facts that, when taken collectively, give rise to an inference of scienter thatdaabksperson
would deem . . . at least as compelling as any opposing inference one could draw famtsthe f
alleged."Tellabs 551 U.S. at 322-324. As discussed below, tam#ff's allegations are
insufficient to meet this burden as to scienter. Additionally, some of the relied iap@meants

are noractionabé statements of belief or opinion, protected forward looking statements, or
otherwise immaterial statements that do not support a claim undér. Toie requirement of
“[m]ateriality is an objective concept, involving the significance of an omittedisepresented
fact to a reasonable investoL.dngmon v. Food Lion, Inc197 F.3d 675, 682 (4th Cir. 1999)
(internal citations and quotation marks omitted). For a statement to be “materiate filust be

a substantial likelihood that the disclosure of the omitted fact would have been vigtined b
reasonable investor as having significantly altered the ‘total mix’ of irdtbam made
available.”Basic v. LevinsaM85 U.S. 224, 231-232 (1988) (quotih§C Industries, Inc. v.
Northway, Inc, 426 U.S. 438, 449 (1976)). In order to assess a statement’s effect on the “total
mix” of information available to the reasonable investor, it “must be consideried falk

context in which [it] wjas] made Gasner v. Bd. of Supervisors of the Cnty of Dinwiddie, Va.

103 F.3d 351, 358 (4th Cir. 1996).
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Plaintiff's claims revolve around the adequacy of their disclosures concerning the risks
associated with the HAAGSontractand the difficulties experienced in performing under the
HAAS Contract Accordingly, the adequacy of théatiff's allegations as tefendants’
scienter and the permissibleferences of scientemust be assessed witkspect tahe
substance of thse specificelied upon statements, the Individual Defendants’ knowledge of
contrary internainformation, as well as the public statements in November 2014 in connection
with Maximus’s announcement of the HAAS Contract.

I. Statement 1:We feel very much that's going as expected(made on
February 5, 201p

Plaintiff alleges that Caswell's statement duringRlebruarys, 2015 earnings call that
“we feel very much that [the HAAS Contract]’s going as expected” was misleaddgube the
transition washot going as Maximus expected in February 2015 given that Maximus had not
successfully achieved a key goal of the transition . . . the transfer of@euffiumber of HCPs
from Atos.” Am. Compl. § 302owever, thePlaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to
draw the required inference that the statement was made “with the intent to ddeestetiis
statement was made before Maximus began performance under the contract aiodsiats
that Maximus would be successful in its performance, but maralythe precontract rampup
process is “goingsaexpected Caswelldid notclaimthat Maximus was meeting or exceeding
some concrete target necessary for the contract’s suSezsmd, the statement must be
assessed within the context of what Maximus had already told investors cogdsrnin
“expectdions.” In that regard, when Maximus first announced the HAAS Contract in its
November 2014 earnings call, it advised callers “[a]s [they] may have hegpl,agram faces
significant challenges out of the gate tht take some time to improveand that among the

most important factors to a successful transition was “the conversion of stiegstaff over
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from Atos . .. .” Nov. 2014 Earnings Call 16, 28. Similarly, at the beginning of the February
2015 call, Montoni reminded callers that Maximus was “working towards addressiega the
challenges that exist[] today, but recognize[d] that it will take time to improvesgsces of the
customer experience.” Feb. 2015 Earnings Call 10. Along those lines, “one of [M&{imu
primary goals [wgs to increase the overall number of healthcare professionalsid. Given

this overall context, the Plaintiffs have failed to allege facts that sufficienttyeaifeat the

“going as expectedStatementvas either false or misleading or made withrdgant to deceive.
For the same reasons, Plaintiff has failed to adequately allege that Statesigerficantly
change the “total mix” of information available to investaasad was therefore material.

i. Statement 2: “Nearly all of the employees stamred over from
[Atos].” (made on May 7, 20)5

In support of its claim theBtatement 2vas false or misleadin@|aintiff does notllege
the number oAtos employeegreviously working on the contraas compared tthe number
thatactually transferredver to Maximug. Instead, Plaintiffelies on(1) the initial assumption
of the HAAS Contract thafa] minimum of 753.8 . . . FTE HPCs will transfer to [Maximus].”
[Doc. No. 50-15] ("HAAS Contract Schedule 7.1") 27-28; (2) the HAAS Corisraetjuirement
that“no later than 10 Working Days after the Operational Service Commencement Pate, th
Parties shall agree whether each Allowable Assumption is adcliradeat 14 (3) Maximus

and DWPs agreemenin July 2015 to reduce the number of asseents in the first year from

2 While the Amended Complaint does not purport to allege specificallynhamy Atos employees transferred to
Maximus, Plaintiffdoes clainthat “Maximus transferred only 500 Atos HCPs, 34% below the Contraajet taf
745.” Pl.’s Resp. 2 (emphasis omitted) (citing Am. Compl. 1¥48p This claim is based on a January 185201
news article based on an interview with Leslie Wolfe, head of Maximus'spérations. The article states that
Maximus “is increasing the number of staff, by roughly an extra 1,000gebringing the total employed on the
contract to around 1,500 tolpeclear the backlog . . . .” Am. Compl. 1 139 (emphasis omitted). Thendaxe
Complaint relies on this statement for the proposition that Maximus haged tarecruit and train 1,0G@lditional
HCPsand that only 500 HCPs transferred from Afbse stéement is not attributed to Wolfe, does not reveal the
basis for its conclusion, and lacks the specificity to support an infeteat Wolfeacknowledged that only 500
Atos employes had transferred to Maximus.
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one million to 980,000; and (4) ttMAO Report’s statement that the assessment target reduction
occurred becaus#ewer staff transferred from the previous provider than the contractual
assumption agreed” to by the parties. NAO Report 39.

The “Operational Commencement Date” was March 1, 2015; and Maximus and DWP
werethereforecontractually obligated to agrég March 13, 201%vhether the initial assumption
of one million assessments during the Contract’s first year wasaaecBecause Maximus and
DWP agreedo reduce the first year's assessments to 980,000, which the Report attriibeed to
fact thatfewer than the assumed 753.8 FTE H@Bssferred from AtgsandPlaintiff plausibly
alleges thathe total number of Atos HCPs must have been greater than the number Maximus
assumed would transfdplaintiff has sufficientlyalleged that the statement that “neally Atos
HCPs had transferreslasfalsg since it appears that not even all of @mticipatedHCPs had
transferredThe same cannot be said, however, with respect to Plaintiff's allegation thairiviont
knew of the shortfall, and that he madat®&men with the intent to deceive

Plaintiff plausiblycontendghat because of the contractual oltiga to assess the
accuracy of the 753.8 FTE HCPs by March 13, 2015, an inference can be drawn fromehke parti
subsequent downward adjustment in assessments that Mknémnthere was a shortfall in the
assumed level of transfers necessary to meetritpea target of one million assessmerse
Am. Compl. § 148. But there is no certainty, or allegation, concerning whether the July 2015
agreement to reduce the first year’'s assessment target was, in fact, thef Maxlimus’s
guestioning the assumed level of transfers by March 13, 2015. It is certainly @ossthot
implausible given the date of the actual agreement to reduce the first year's assessiyent, J
2015,that the parties did not, in fact, assess the accuracy of that naitiafér assumption by

March 13, 2015, or indeed until after the May 2015 earningsleahy event, the inference of
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knowledge to be drawn fromdhcontractual obligation is a relatively weane; and the
inference that Montoni not only knew of the shortfall by May 7disbtmade Statement 2 with
the intent to deceive is even weak@verall, Plaintiff's allegations do not raise the required
strong inference of scienter with respect to Statement 2.

Moreover, @en assuming that Statement 2 was falgethat Montoni knew of the
shortfall in transferby the May 7 earnings catheAmended Complaint fails to allege fact
sufficient to support thamaferencethat the misstatement was mater&thtement 2 makes a claim
about the number of HCP transfers relative toiia number of HCPs who had worked for
Atos. While thetotal number of Atos HCPs must have been greater than the 753.8 FTE HCPs
originally assumedvould transferthe Amended Comiaint daesnot identify the magnitude of
that shortfall,only that it was large enough to justify the pattiresiucing the first year
assessment target by 2Pdaintiff essentiallycontendghat Statement 2’'s materialican be
inferred from he 2% reduabn, arguing thatéven a relatively small reduction in the assessment
requirement was a major concession by the DWP, given that it had previousipeet a *
negotiable’ target of 1 million assessmen&eePl.’s Resp. 16. But notwithstandiDyVP's
non-regotiable requirementiuring the bid processhe HAAS Contract specifically allowed the
parties to reassess their assumptions and make adjustirtertsare no allegationisat allow
an assessment tife financial impact, if any, on Maximus as a restithe 2% reduction in its
assessment target; and tN&ximustook advantage of its contractual ability to reduce its target
assessment (and thereby more easily qualify for an Awarddbes)natby itself, allow the
inferencethat thee is a‘substantial likelihood that the disclosure of the [shortfall causing the 2%
reduction] would have been viewed by the reasonable investor as having signiattantlg the

‘total mix’ of information made availableBasic,485 U.S.at231-232
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iii. Statement 3: “Early indications are that we are meeting our recruitment
targets for healthcare professional@riade on May 7, 20)5

Plaintiff first relies on the NAO Report to alletieat the statement that Maximus was
“meeting [its] recruitment targets” wéalse. NAO Report 25. Speaking generally, the Report
notes that “[ijn April 2015, the Department estimated providers would need to mtheas
number of healthcare professionals by 84% from 2,220 in May 2015 to 4,050 in November
2016.”1d. However thattotal estimate relatedot justto Maximus, but taall of DWP’s
contractors, all of whomeportedchallengs with the “recruiting, training and retaining
healthcare professionals and providing enough centres for training and &sgess$th The
Report does not break down hovamy HCP<ach program managed by DWP would néed.
The Report goes on to say that “all providers,” including Maximus, “told us theyfiddnti
healthcare professional capacity as a high’ralkhough the Report does not indieathen the
providers generally, or Maximus in particular, communicated that recruitvana riskld.®

Relying on information from a confidential witneg4aintiff points tointernal Maximus
reports, known as Risk Registers, which in July 20&8 flagged™ “Recruitment Capacity and
Candidate Availability,” saying th&fw]e will not be able to source and process sufficient
recruits of appropriate quality to meet the demand profile.” Am. Comp. § 154 (esphasi
omitted). The July 201Risk Register inclues a Risk Raisel Date” of April 28, 2015. The
Amended Complaint does not explain, however, to whom this risk was raised or in what fashion,

beyond its inclusion in the Risk Register. The Risk Register does show thaktvasiseported

% Based on these statements, Plaintiff aggthat as of April 201%ll providers told [DWP] they identified
healthcare professional capacity as a high ridkxvever,the April 2015 date is associated with the DWP’s internal
analysis of its own needs in April 2015, not when the providers percaeagitment as a rislseeNAO Report 25
(“In April 2015, the Department estimated providers would need toaserthe nundr of healthcare professionals

* The Amended Complaint explains that the Risk Registers used-arfeergreen” risk rating system, with “red”
risks meaning that “[s]uccessful delivery of the project/prograrappears tbe unachievable. Thesze major

issues on the project/programme . . . which at this stage do[] not apeamianageable or resolveable. The
project/programme may needlvaselineing and/or overall viability reassessed.” Am. Compl. { 158.
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to DWP, confirming the NAO Report, though again, it does not say when or exactly to tvhom i
was reportedd. at § 162In short, that a July 2015 Risk Register stated that the recruitment risk
was “raised” on April 28, 2015, does not establish that Montoni, or atinedhdividual
Defendants, knew of the issue a week later. Indeed, the Amended Complaintthh¢ties Risk
Register identified Judith Whitaker, the director of HR at CHDA, as th&“Bgner,” and that
Whitaker reported to Leslie Wolfe, the head of Maximus’s UK operations, not one of the
Individual Defendants’1d. at § 161. The Amended Complaint does not allege that Whitaker or
Wolfe communicated this risk to the Individual Defendants before the May 2015 earalings
Plaintiff also relies on two o#r internal Maximus documents, a “Weekly Resource
Report Week Ended 31 July 2015” and an August 2015 presentation titled “Recruitment and
Retention CHDA Workstream Status Report.” The August 2015 presentation states tha
Maximus’s initial internal recruitent target was 120 HCPs per month. Am Compl.  170.
Despite this goal, the July 2015 Resource Report states that Maximus misggxhtiny a
significant margin in February and March, recruiting just 48 and 45 HCPs, respedtl. at
169. However, in Aril 2015, immediately before Statement 3 was made, Maximus hit its
recruiting goal for the first time, recruiting 121 HCRE.Plaintiff argues that the April

recruitment numbers did not make up for the shortfalls in February and March, and thiat overa

® Plaintiff also argues generallyahWolfe was aware of facts contradicting the Individual Defendatt€raents,
and that her knowledge can be imputed to them for the purpose of showimtgiscil]n order for a corporation to
be liable for securities fraud, at least one corporate agent must have abtdtbwéquired state of mindri re
Computer Sciences Corp. Sec. LitBR0 F. Supp. 2d 650, 664 (E.D. Va. 2012) (cleaned up). But the knowledge of
one corporate officer is not necessarily imputed to another for tpegas of estdishing the second’s scienter. “It
is possible to draw a strong inference of corporate scienter without xéngpaame the individuals who
concocted and disseminated the fraud,” but that task generally requiresyanaggrial and blatant
misrepresetation from which the Court can infer that themasthave been scienter in order for this statement to
have been mad&lakor Issues & Rights, Ltd. v. Tellabs, 613 F.3d 702, 710 (7th Cir. 2008)ed in Matrix

Capital Mgmt. Fund, LP v. Bearingpoinic., 576 F.3d 172, 190 (4th Cir. 2009). In that case, “[t]here would be a
strong inference of corporate scienter, since so dramatic an announcemileinbhave been approved by corporate
officials sufficiently knowledgeable about the company to know tlmathnouncement was fals&d” Here, the
Amended Complaint alleges no facts to support an inference that Wolfevagpor even had advance knowledge
of, any of the relied upon statements by the Individual Defendamysknowledge she may have had canyrto

those statements is insufficient to establish scienter on the part of Montoni.
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Maximus was still behind where they should have been. But Montoni did not phrase the
statement inerms of overallecruiting numbers, but instead in termdvEximus’s“meeting
[its] recruitment targets.” As of early May, it appeared that eartyorup problems with
recruiting were being addressed, as recruiting had more than doubled fremt®MApril and
was at the company’s target.

To demonstrate scienter, a reasonable pessuid need to conclude from the facts
alleged that Montoni’s sciegt is “at least as compelling as any opposing inference one could
draw from the facts allegedTellabs 551 U.S. at 322-324. For the above reasons, Plaintiff's
allegations do natufficiently allege facts that raise thgong inferencéhatMontoni knewthat
Statement 3 was falsend that he made it with the intent to deceive

V. Statement 4:[W]e're also on track to meet our requirements for
assessment volumegriade on May 7, 20}5

As with Statement 3, Plaintiff largely relies on internal Maximus documents thgeflag
assessment volumes as a risk to show that Statement 4 was made with the nexessanixs
an initial matter, Plaintiff does not argue that Statement 4 is ljydeddle. The NAO Report, as
cited in the Amended Complaint, showed that Maximus met its overall assessmesatitarge
March and April, the only two months it managed tbetract before the May earnings c8ee
id. at § 259. Instead, Plaintiff arguesttBdatement 4 is a materially misleading Halth, based
on the fact that “Maximus materially missed (by over 5,000 assessmengpitd 4rucial
target for faceo-face assessments in April, which was Maxinmag'st important metric . . . .”
Pl.’s Regp. 21 (emphasis and citations omitted). Additionally, Plaintiff argues that because
Maximus had a downward trajectory in assessment volume from March to Apré, whil
assessment targets were increasing each month, it was materially misleatitg tioat

Maximus was “on track” to meet its assessment volume requirements. Ahaihtff contends
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that contrary to Statements 2 and 3, Maximus aig=eriencingoroblems with the transfer and
recruitment of HCP#hat precluded its beirign track” for assessent volume.

As with Statements 2 and 3, Maximus relies almost entirely on intexpaftsthat
highlight these risks, without sufficient factual allegations to connect thesdg¢othe
Individual DefendantsSeeAm. Compl. 1 193 (“Operation Reports, which provided metrics on
recruitment, training, productivity, and quality of assessments,” weegtigntly’ sent to
Maximus’ headquartersy Reston, VA.”), 1 419 (“Montoni admitted that he and the entire
‘Executive team’ of Maximus had been spending ‘a lot of time’ on monitoring the Cbfjtrac
Based on thalleged inconsistencidgetween thd®efendants’ statements and information in the
Operation Reports,|&ntiff contendd Montoni must have had the “intent to deceive, manipulate,
or defraud."Tellabs 551 U.S. at 319. As with Statements 2 anidh&,contrary information
existed somewhere in the company does not sufficiently show that Montoni had sgitnter
respect to Statement®particularly sinceStatement 4 was literally true with respect to
Maximus’s March and April 2015 assessment targets.

The parties dispute whether Statement 4 falls into the statutory safe foaidooward-
looking statements or whether the “bespeaks caution” doctrine applies based on dontoni’
caveatof “although it's eay days” Regardless whether those doctrines apply, Statement 4 was
not material, sinc&lontoni’s “early days” and “on track” languageflected a subjective, less
than certairassessmenWhile Statement 3uggests thatarly signs were positiyé does not

convey, as Plaintiff implies, that Maximus had actually hit its assessment volumis iargoth

® Plaintiff also contends that the scienter of the Individual Defendants (and pmtyicbkir awareness of the
information in the OperatioReports and the Risk Regist can be inferred from theseniorityand the importance

to the company of theHAAS Contract However, the Fourth Circuit has specifically rejected inferring scientedbas
on the seniority of the actors or the importance of the subject matter tantbargs busines$See Yates v.
Municipal Mortg. & Equity, LLC 744 F.3d 874, 890 (4th Cir. 2014) (“[W]e reject plaintiffs’ contention that t
individual defendants must have acted intentionally or recklesslgnerely because (1) they were senior
exectives, and (2) the [funds at issue] represented a core business of thanydrfgitations omitted)
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March and April or that it had hit all of hits stdrgets only that there were good prospeitiat
Maximus would meet its requirements for assessmanmes on the Contract as a whole.
V. Statements 7 and 8The project is still expected to be profidatfor . . .

fiscal 2015 . ..”; “[W]e’re a bit behind where we wanted to erade on
August 6, 201b

Statement 7 relays Nadeau’s subjective expectations for the success of t8e HAA
Contract given that, as he said on the same call, “the recruiting and retaining othealth
professionals has proved to be tougher than we anticipated.” Aug. 2015 EarningsPGaritif
argues that this stateent “falsely reassured investors that the challenges disclosed that day were
minor and already being resolved such that they would not have a material impact on the
Contract’s profitability for fiscal 2015.” Pl.’s Resp. 30. However, taracterization overstates
Nadeau’s statement. Statement 7 does not say that the HAAS Contract woulddfieadepas
originally expectedonly that it isstill expected to be at least somewhat profitabléhe
sentence immediately before Statemgrtladeau explain$at the disclosed challengesuld
“mean(] lower revenue and profit contributions from the contract at this time.” 2Qib
Earnings Call. 2. Additionally, Nadeau noted that the company had “alreadyrmemgkd many
initiatives to drive recruitment andcrease new applicant retention,” which Montoni explained
in greater detail during his portion of the c#dl. at 2, 4.Further, the HAAS Contract was in part
a costplus contract. Maximus did not have to hit all of its assessment volume targetakto bre
even or generate some probifly to achieve performance awards. Losses due to a significant
shortfall in assessment volume wérerefordimited. In this context,tiis more plausible that
Nadeawgenuinelybelieved that the remedial measures the companideatfied and put in
place would be sufficient tallow for at least somprofit by the end of théiscal yearthan he

intended to deceive investors
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Similarly, Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to im@gienter with respect to
Statement §that Maximus wasd bit behind wherave wanted to be); evenif that statement
were otherwise actionable or materidlontoni, like Nadeau, affirmatively disclosed in the call
that thecontract was not where they wanted it to be andMlaaimushad planned oa much
quicker rampup period.Seed. at8 (“Our original thought was that all of fiscal 2015 would be a
ramp period. . . . So, our plan was that this would stabilize in fiscal 2016, and that's still our
plan.”). The Individual Defendants could reasonably have believed that the rigikadbed were
surmountable and that the strategies put in place to combat those risks wete bkelgeed.
Within context, and absenther facts not alleged, the statement that Maximus was “a bit behind
where [they] wanted to betéflects, more than any other explanati@moptimistic business
analysiswithoutan intent to deceivéSee In re Worlds of Wonder Secs. Ljth F.3d 1407,
1419 (9th Cir. 1994) (“Plaintiffs cannot use the benefit of 20-20 hindsight to turn management’s
business judgment into securities fraud.”) (internal citations and quotation mattedpm

Vi. Statement 11: “We are now reaching a level of recruiting that, from a rate

perspective, is an appropriate level.”; “We’re at the right rate for
recruiting.”(made on November 12, 2016)

Like Statements 7 and 8, Statement 11—which is composed of esséwiaditatements
from different parts of the saearnings calt-reflectsCaswell’s business judgment about what
the “right rate for recruiting” is and whether the initiatives Maximus had ppiice were likely
to be sufficient to maintain that rate going forwdRelying on a confidential witnesBJaintiff
alleges in support ahateriaity andscienter that in July 2015 Maximus increased its recruitment
targets® 211 HCPs per month, but never recruited more than 130 HCPs per month. Am. Compl.

1 178, 183. However, the Recruiting Workstream Reportiicinthis increase in recruiting

" For that reason, this case iglilke in Singer v. Reali__ F.3d __, No. 185729, No. 161019, 2018 WL 1004978
(4th Cir. Feb. 22, 2018)yhich Plaintiff relies on, where there was no plausible legal explasafiiw the intentional
and illegal coding of experimental surgeries in order to ensure fulbtegament from insurance companies
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goals is discussed stated that the increased target was necessary “partly” becanse Mak
not been meeting its prior target arekded to make up that shortfall. The increase“wese
broadly . . . a result of higher levels of training attrition than expected Id. at’ 179.Within
thatcontext, the reference to tlrght rate for recruiting’appears to be a reference to the
appropriate level of recruiting the company could make significant progress in raduthe
attrition rate As noted above, after saying that “[w]e are now reaching a level of recrinéihg t
.. Is an appropriate level,” Caswell went on to tell the caller who asked theoquhbat “[t]he
real issue that we’ve been facing is our &pitio graduate those trainees that we bring into the
system on a timely basis and ensure that we have a high level of gradat&j@mnd obviously, a
correspondingly low attrition.” Nov. 2015 Earnings Call Z4is affirmative disclosure of the
“real issue,” which Caswell made repeatedly during the call, belies an inference of s@adter
shows that, in context, the statement did not change the “overall mix” of informatiavein a
that would mislead the reasonable investor. Instead, it is more plaisittlas statement
reflected higousiness judgmetihat regardless ofhe company’s internal goals, reducing
attrition would be a more effectiweayto increasestaffinglevels tharincreasing recruitment.
This judgment appears to have been confirmed &\WiO Reportwhich concluded that
increasing HCP staffing “will be challenging given market presssu . . [O]nly 3% of 3,970
[HCP] vacancies are advertised for more than 30 days, suggesting thelatarely few long
term [HCP] vacancies.” NAO Report 25. Iratlenvironment, where HCPs are in high demand
in the labor market generally and, as Caswell noted on théViaadlmus is asking them to da
very different type of work” than they are useditayasa rational judgment to focus on training
and retaining the HCPs they recruit, rather than focusing on recruiting méte td@o through

a highattrition training process.
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vil. Statements 5 and 9: “If . . . may” risk disclosures in Maximus’s May 2015
and August 2015 1Q-filings.

Plaintiff argues that Maximus’s disclosure of certain risks in its Mad/August 2015
10-Qs wa materially misleading because of tHéir. . . may” formulation,sinceMaximus knew
that these risks hamireadymaterialzed and were threatening the performance of the HAAS
Contract. However, as discussed above with respect to the May and August 201&nssatem
Plaintiff has failed tallege factsufficient to infer thaat the time of the May 2015 1Q-the
Individual Deendants were actually aware of internal informatmmonsistent wittitheir
statements. Even if they were, in both May and August Z8amtiff hasnot pleaded facts
showing a more plausible inference than that the Individual Defendants genuinehetéhiat
the initiatives they had put in place were sufficient to correct the problemsHA#®S Contract
and accelerate the rarup to full profitability.

viii.  Statements 6 and 10: Omissions in Maximus’s May 2015 and August 2015
10-Q filings.

Plaintiff asserts that Maximus made material omissions in its May and August 2@15 10
filings that are “actionable pursuant to Item 303 of Regulation S-K . .. .” Am. Compl. 1 329.
That regulation requires, among other thirigat 10-Q filings “[d]escrike any known trends or
uncertainties that have had or that the registrant reasonably expecesveril material
favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or income from continuingogérati
17 C.F.R. § 229.303(a)(3)(ii). However, Regulation S-K does not create an independent cause of
action,see Oran v. Staffor®26 F.3d 275, 287 (3d Cir. 2000) (Alito, J.), and some courts to
consider the question, including this one, have concluded that “a violation of Regul#tion S-
does not lead to a failure to disclose under 10861 Workers Local 16 Pension Fund v. Hilb
Rogal & Hobbs Cq.432 F. Supp.2d 571, 578 (E.D. Va. 200€g also In re NVIDIA Corp. Sec.

Litig., 768 F.3d 1046, 1054-56 (9th Cir. 2014) (“We have never directly decided whethis
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303 disclosure duty is actionable under Section10(b) and Rule 10b-5. We now hold that it is
not.”); In re Sofamor Danek Grp., Ind23 F.3d 394, 402-03 (6th Cir. 1997).

The Fourth Circuit has not ruled on this question and aiheuits that have considered
the issue have reached different conclusiBus.even the Second Circuit, which has held that
Item 303 omissions can give rise to 18iability, see StratteMcClure v. Morgan Stanley76
F.3d 94, 103-04 (2d Cir. 201%asnot hdd that an Item 303 violations a per sematerial
omission under 10b-5, but that “failure to comply with Item 303angive rise to liability
under Rule 10b-50 long aghe omission is material undBasic and the other elements of Rule
10b-5 have been establisheltl’ (emphasis added). For that reason, Item@6&sions must
still be materiahndmade withscienter.

Plaintiff has failed to sufficiently allegéat any of the Individual Defendants knew of or
believed inanyunfavorable trends of the May015 10€Q. At the time of the May015 109,
Maximus had been running thEBAAS Contract for only two months and met its overall
assessment volume targets for both of those months. Additipaalbf early May, it appeared
that Maximus’s problems with recruiting were being addressed; HCHtiegroubled from
March to April to meet the company’s internal recruiting goHte Contract simply had not
been running long enough to draw the inference that the Individual Defendants knew #)ere wa
and should have disclosed, a “trend” and that fiadure to do so was with the intent to deceive
investors. By the time of the August 2015 Q0Maximushad madeffirmative disclosures of
the problemdacing the Contract in its earnings call the day befouging against the inference
that the omission of an Item 303 disclosure was material or made with the intecgiteede

investorsSee, e.g.August 2015 Earnings Call 2 (“[T]he recruiting and irgty of healthcare
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professionals has proved to be tougher than we anticipated. As a result we aenexpger
volume and to a lesser extent quality variances from our plan.”).

For the reasons previously stated by this Court and the Sixth and Ninth<Ciaclaiilure
to comply Item 303 of Regulation S-K does not give rise to liability under Section 1(Ri)jeor
10b-5. Alternativelythe Amended Complaint fails smlequately allege scient@rmateriality
for any alleged omissions in the May 2015 or August 2015 10-Qs.

b. The Amended Complaint failsto adequately plead loss causation.

The Amended Complairtiso failsto plead adequatelpss causation. To prevail on a
8 10(b) claim, a plaintiff must show that “the act or omission off#fendant . . . caused the loss
for which the plaintiff seeks to recover damages.” 15 U.S.C. §i)84}. For this reasorg
plaintiff in a fraudon-themarket casenust show not only that the alleged material
misrepresentations artificially inflated thece of the security, but also that the price dropped to
the “correct” price after the truth came out, causmgstorsto bear a loss because of their
purchasef the securities during the perittht the misrepresentations tainted the maet.
Dura Pharm., Inc. v. Broud®44 U.S. 336, 342 (2005) (“[A]n inflated purchase price will not
itself constitute or proximately cause the relevant economic lo4sdys causation must be pled
with sufficient specificity, a standard largely consonant with R{#'s requirement that
averments of fraud be pled with particularitZarlucci v. Han 907 F. Supp. 2d 709, 723-24
(E.D. Va. 2012) (cleaned ugjere, Plaintiff argues that the Amended Complaint adequately
pleads loss causation on two theories: the corrective disclosure theory and tredinaditen of
the risk theory.

Under a corrective disclosure theory, a plaintiff “must provide a basis on which to

conclude the . . . alleged corrective disclosures . . . revealed ‘new facts’tsugfjbs
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defendanthad perpetrated a fraud on the market by omitting” or misrepresenting material
information in its prior statements to the marl&dtylev. Penn Nat'l Gaming, Inc637 F.3d

462, 473 (4th Cir. 2011). “Such disclosures need not precisely identify the misrepresentati
omission. . . [bJut they must reveal to the market in some sense the fraudulent nature of the
practices about which a plaintiff complains [and] must ‘at least relate bdck to
misrepresentation and not to some other negative information about the comighifguioting

In re Williams Sec. Litig.558 F.3d at 1140¥ee Metzler Inv. GMBH v. Corinthian Colleges,
Inc., 540 F.3d 1049, 1063 (9th Cir. 2008) (“[T]he complaint must allege that the practices the
plaintiff contends are fraudulentene revealed to the market and caused the resulting losges.”).
corrective disclosure need not reveal the “fraudulent naturepobastatemenby admitting to

it. “The ‘relevant truth’ required . . . is not that a fraud was commgezdse. . . .” Fruedenberg

v. E*Trade Fin. Corp.712 F. Supp. 2d 171, 202 (S.D.N.Y. 2010). Rather, a corrective
disclosure can reveal the fraudulent nature of a pradestent by revealing “the ‘truth’ about the
company’s underlying condition, [which,] when revealealjseshe economic loss.IU.

Plaintiff contendghat it has adequately alleged loss causation based on (1) the alleged
misstatements and omissionghe February and Ma3015 statements (Statements 1 through 6)
pertaining to the transfer and retenta™HCPs and Maximus’s ability to meet its monthly
assessment volume targdt®) the “partial corrective statements” in thegust and November
2015earningscalls (during which plaintiff also contends the Defendant isfwdider false and
misleadingStaements 7 through 11), which disclosed the true economic hedltb BIAAS
Contract; and3) Maximuss “final corrective statemehin February 2016, at the end of the
Class Periodwhen the full truth finally came out. Specifically, the Amended Compldin

alleges that the Februarg0l16earnings call was the first time Maximus revealed that it was
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“hiring approximately 100 new healthcare professionals each month,” whichsgabda half
its target of 211 HCPs; that graduation rates of HCPs was “north of 80%,” as oppdeet3&ot
rate set by the HAAS contract; that the HCP graduation rate was 30% when thegd ¢ae
Contract in March, 2015; and that “the learning curve to full productivity [for new HEHPs]
take between six and eight montharh. Campl. 11 118119. After the February 2016 earnings
call, the price of Maximus common stock dropped $5.53 per share, or 10.5%, closing at $46.92
per share on February 5. Maximus’s stock price during the Class Period peaked at $7@ per sha
in August 2015before the beginning of these alleged “partial corrective disclosudest | 20.
TheAmended Complaint fails to alledactssufficient toestablisithat the August 2015,
November 2015, and February 2016 statements were, as Plaintiff comtemestive
disclosuresThe reliedupon disclosures, starting with the August 2015 staterspntting
disappointing earnings on the HAAS Contract, related to risks that had been previously
disclosed The shortfalls in HCP recruiting and assessment volume discussed in the 2Qidust
statementgccurredafter the May 2015 calhnd were the result of the risks associated with the
HAAS Contract thaMaximus affirmatively disclosed as early as November 2GddNov.
2014 Earnings Call 15, (“[T]he [HAAS Contract] &xcsignificant challenges out of the gate that
will take some time to improve.”), 28 (“[T]here is a meaningful backlog thaeveeeking to
reduce.”) While theinformation disclosed in the August and November 26dfings calls
indicates that the Indidual Defendantsearlier statementsiay have been overly optimistic,
those disclosures do not sufficiently allow the inferencetttfeatknewin February and May of
2015 that the Contract would perforitlae level that it didSee Katyle637 F.3d at 477.
Likewise,during the August 2015 earnings call, Maximus spoke at length dtmut t

“startup challenges” affecting the Contract. Aug. 2015 Earnings CAlh8lysts asked the
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Individual Defendants specifically about the recruiting and assessmergmsotiiat had been
disclosedld. at 9 @Analyst “I'm curious why you think you’re having trouble recruiting on the
HAAS contract?”). Similarly, the November 2015 earnings call and statsmrestely reported
further the disappointing performance of the HAAS Contract because of theysigwdisclosed
risks® The November 2015 call was the first earnings call where Maximus had théramadial
reports for fiscal year 2015; and the November 2015 earningeftalits theecruitment and
assessmermroblems hat had worsened since the last earnings Nallably, Plaintiff points to
no analyst statement on the earnings calls or in thecaisthalysisuggestindghat the
November 2015 statements revealed some fraud or deception in the earliemgsaidrae
21.9% stock drop associated with the November 2015 earnings call is adequatehedXpfai
the poor performance of the HAAS Contrddclosed in the call, rather théreperceived
disclosure of some previous fraud.

Finally, the February 2016 statementBtaintiff's alleged “final corrective
disclosures”—do not disclose new risks that had been previoostealedr any othepast
fraud. Instead, like the November 2015 statements,reflect the same performance risks,
issuesand problems as those disclosed in November and August 20$6a@tig after
Maximus won the contract. In fact, the February 284afings call referenced the November
2015 call, saying that the previously disclosed problems were ongoing, notrmg\seshe

previous fraud“At this time, we arestill running below our volume targets . . . . The NAO

8 Even though the November 2015 statements doxmdicély “relate back” to any early statement alleged to be
fraudulent Plaintiff contends that the November 2015 statements implicitlydtedback’ to the alleged
misstatements, including those about recruiting and volume targeBefedants had told investors Maximus had
been successfully ‘meeting’ or [was] ‘on track to meet (Statement Néx."2Pl.'s Resp. 47. However, as
discussed above, the May 2015 statements were couched as predictions paegdess on the relevant metrics up
to that pant. The May statements were also preceded by the disclosures of thbaiskereagaindisclosed in the
November 204 earnings call. The August 2015 disclosures also repeated and made clear thteg 2045
disclosures of the risks associated with @ontrat
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reportechoed what we said in our November ealit relates to certain performance metrics,
including volumes and quality.” Am. Compl. 11 114-115 (emphasis added).

Plaintiff also contends that loss causation is shown under the “materialization of the risk
theory.” Under that theory, a plaintiff can show loss causdtyoalleging facts showing that the
drop in stock price was the “foreseeable consequence][] of the alleged fraud” and seasbsau
the “revel[ation of] new information previously concealed by defendantgjesll&aud.”Caplin
v. TranS1, InG.973 F. Supp. 2d 596, 611-12 (E.D.N.C. 2013). This theory of loss causation does
not rely on the defendant’s disclosure of its own fraud through later statemetetsd [fike
news of the materialized risk would itself be the revelation of the fraud thatdcplasntiffs’
loss.” Teachers Ret. Sys. of Louisiana v. Hu&7 F.3d 162, 187 n.3 (4th Cir. 2003¢g also
In re Omnicom Group Inc. Sec. Litigh97 F.3d 501, 511 (2d Cir. 2010) (“Appellant seeks to . . .
argu[e] the existence of proximate cause on the ground that negative investocedgahawn
from [a director]’s resignation and from the news stories in June @02d the loss and were a
foreseeable materialization of the risk . . . .”).

WhatPlaintiff positsas a “materialization of the risk” theoiy/simply a restatement of
its corrective disclosure argumestnce Plaintiffrelies only orrisks associated ith the HAAS
Contractthat it contends were “concealed by alleged misstatements and omissionghiuring
Class Period and w[ere] revealed through partial disclosures showingefleatdBnts had misled
the market about Maximus’s Contract performance and profitability.” Pl.’p.R&sAs
discussed above, there is nothing about the alleged partial or final correctigsutiess that on
their face reveal a fraud that had been perpetrated on invéstotbe above reasonbgt

Amended Complaint fails to adeately plead loss causation.
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c. Plaintiff fails to plead adequately a claim under Section 20(a).

Count II of the Amended Complaint asserts a cause ol action under Section 20(a) of the
Exchange Act. That section creates joint and several liability for “control persons™ who “directly
or indirectly, control[] any person liable under any provision of” the Exchange Act. 15 U.S.C.

§ 78t(a). Because the Amended Complaint fails to adequately state a claim under § 10(b) of the
Exchange Act, it also fails to state a claim under § 20(a), and Count II must also be dismissed.
IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Amended Complaint fails to allege facts sufficient to
support plaintiff’s claims under Sections 10(b) or 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
The Motion to Dismiss will therefore be GRANTED and the Amended Complaint DISMISSED.

The Court will issue an appropriate order.

The Clerk is directed to forward copies of this Memorandum Opinion to all counsel of

record.

isin |

Anthony J. Tjenfa\/
United Stated District Judge
Alexandria, Virginia
August 27,2018
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